FILED COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION II
2012 DEC 19 PM 12: 40
STATE OF WASHINGTON
BY

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II STATE OF WASHINGTON

NO. 42964-1-II

STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent

v.

ALFRED JOSEPH SANCHEZ, Appellant

Appeal from the Superior Court of Thurston County The Honorable Christine Pomeroy Pierce County Superior Court Cause No. 09-1-00591-9

**Corrected ** BRIEF OF APPELLANT

OM 12/17/12

By:

Barbara Corey Attorney for Appellant WSB #11778 902 S. 10th Street Tacoma, WA 98405 (253) 779-0844

A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR:

- 1. The trial court erred when it admitted Mr. Sanchez's statements to Olympia Police.
 - a. Former (1)
 - b. Former (2)
- 2. Mr. Sanchez is entitled to a new trial because trial counsel failed to provide constitutionally effective assistance.
- 3. The State failed to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that Mr. Sanchez committed the crime of first degree assault.
- 4. The trial court's findings of fact and conclusions of law following bench trial fail to support its conclusion that Mr. Sanchez committed the crime of assault in the first degree while armed with a deadly weapon.
 - a. The trial court erred when it entered the following findings of fact: nos. 3, 5, 6, 7, 8, 9, 10, 11, 12, 13, 14, 15, 16, 17, 18, 19, 20, 23, 24, 25, 26, 27.
 - b. The trial court erred when it entered conclusions of law nos. 5, 6, 7, 8, 9.
- 5. The trial court abused its discretion when it denied Mr. Sanchez's motion for new trial.

B. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR:

- A criminal defendant is denied his constitutional protections under the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution and Article 1, section 9 of the Washington Constitution when the trial court admitted statements made strict under orders of his military commander.
- 2. When a criminal defendant is in a custodial setting, his statements to police are not admissible at trial absent proof

that the statements are made knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily.

- 3. When a suspect in a criminal case is ordered by his military commanders to give a statement to local authorities, his statement cannot be voluntary.
- 4. When a suspect in a criminal case is ordered by his military commanders to present himself physically at one location and then directly proceed into an interview with local law enforcement officials, that suspect has no ability to make decisions regarding his own interactions with local enforcement.
- 5. Where the orderly administration of justice requires compliance with procedural rules, this court may not review the issue of the voluntariness of a suspect's statement to police due to lack of findings.
- 6. Given the specificity of the issues, Mr. Sanchez anticipates that belated entry of findings will prejudice his ability to make the arguments about the involuntary and coerced statements to police.
- A criminal defendant is entitled to effective assistance from counsel under the Sixth Amendment to the United Sates Constitution and Article 1, section 22 of the Washington Constitution.
- 8. Trial counsel is ineffective when failing to have a strategy for the admission of evidence items which can only buttress the defense theory that the victim misidentified the defendant as the assailant.
- 9. Trial counsel is ineffective for advising her client to waive the jury in where there is no tactical or strategic reason to do so.

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE:

<u>1.</u> <u>Procedural history</u>:

On April 3, 2009, the State of Washington filed an information in Thurston County Superior Court cause 09-1-00591-9 charging ALFRED JOSEPH SANCHEZ, hereinafter Mr. Sanchez, with the crimes of first degree assault while armed with a deadly weapon or did by any force or means likely to produce great bodily harm assault another and thereby inflict great bodily harm, alleging also that the crimes were committed with a special deadly weapon enhancement, count I; tirst degree burglary while armed with a deadly weapon with a special deadly weapon enhancement, count 2; and first degree assault. CP 7.

Prior to the first trial, the State filed an amended information alleging that Mr. Sanchez acted with another individual John Melville in the commission of these crimes. CP 8-9.

The jury trial ended with a hung jury, 6-6. CP 309, 311, 312, 332.

On April 28, 2011, the court entered an order directing dismissal of the charge of first degree burglary. CP 363.

Prior to the retrial, Mr. Sanchez informed the court that he intended to waive the jury. 2RP 17. The court required a written waiver from him. 2RP 18; CP 540.

The court accepted the waiver and the same court that had presided over the jury trial heard the bench trial.

At the conclusion of the bench trial, the court entered findings of fact and conclusions of law supporting its verdict. CP 706-709.

The court sentenced Mr. Sanchez within the standard range to

93 months plus the 24 month deadly weapon enhancement in the

Department of Corrections. CP 724-734.

Mr. Sanchez timely filed this appeal. CP 710-720.

There were two trials in this case.

The first trial was a jury trial, lasting from October 12, 2010 through November 5, 2010. PTRP 5-1947. This trial resulted in a hung jury with a reported split of 6-6, PTRP 1945. CP 202-226.

2. CrR 3.5 hearing.

On October 11, 2010, the court convened a CrR 3.5¹ hearing to determine the admissibility of statements made by Mr. Sanchez the

¹ CrR 3.5 CONFESSION PROCEDURE (a) Requirement for and Time of Hearing. When a statement of the accused is to be offered in evidence, the judge at the time of the omnibus hearing shall hold or set the time for a hearing, if not previously held, for the purpose of determining whether the statement is admissible. A court reporter or a court approved electronic recording device shall record the evidence adduced at

night of the alleged incident. PTRP 15. Police were interested only in the events related to the stabbing that had occurred. PTRP 15. Other assaults had occurred that night but police believed those assaults were peripheral to the stabbing. PTRP 15.

Trial counsel offered the declaration of First Sergeant Bernard

Folino who was Mr. Sanchez's commanding officer on March 28,

2009. CP 40. Folino was unavailable to testify at the CrR 3.5 hearing

because he was out of state at a military training academy CP 44.

Folino swore that on March 28, 2009, he commanded Mr.

Sanchez, Jason Britt, Brandon Craft, James Elmer, Thomas Gallagher,

this hearing. (b) Duty of the Court to Inform Defendant. It shall be the duty of the court to inform the defendant that" (1) he may, but need not, testify at the hearing on the circumstanced surrounding the statement; (2) if he does testify at the hearing, he will be subject to cross examination with respect to the circumstances surrounding the statement and with respect to this credibility; (3) if he does testify at the hearing, he does not by so testifying waive his right to remain silent during the trial; and (4) if he does testify at the hearing, neither this fact nor his testimony at the hearing shall be mentioned to the jury unless he testifies concerning the statement at trial. (c) Duty of Court to Make a Record. After the hearing, the court hall set forth in writing: (1) the undisputed facts; (2) the disputed facts; (3) conclusions as to the disputed facts; and (4) conclusion as to whether the statement is admissible and the reasons therefore. (d) Rights of Defendant When Statement if Ruled Admissible. If the court rules that the statement is admissible, and it is offered in evidence: (1) the defense may offer evidence or cr5oss-examinie the witnesses, with respect to the statement without waiving an objection to the admissibility of the statement; (2) unless the defendant testifies at the trial concerning the statement, no reference shall be made to the fact, if it be so, that the defendant testified at the preliminary he3aring on the admissibility of the confession; (3) if the defendant becomes a witness on this issue, he3shall be subject to cross examination to the same extent as would any other witness; and, (4) I the defense raises the issue of voluntariness under subsection (1) above, the jury shall be instructed that they may give such weight and credibility to the confession is view of the surrounding circumstances, as they see fit.

John Melville, Alex Robillard, Wesley Sims, Andrew Thomas, and Abraham Zenker. CP 40.

During the early morning hours, Folino learned that local law enforcement officers wanted to speak to these men about a bar fight in Olympia. CP 41. He instructed the Staff Duty NCO to have those individuals present and ready to speak to law enforcement when they arrived. CP 41. Staff Duty NCO also ordered the men into uniform. CP 41.

Folino then spoke directly to the men. CP 41. He instructed each member under investigation to appear before police and relate the events of the evening. CP 42. The soldiers had no choice whether or not to appear and cooperated in the investigation. CP 42. He ordered them to do so. CP 42. During the entirety of his tenure of First Sergeant of B Company, Second Ranger Battalion, Folino had never known a single man in his unit to fail to follow one of his direct orders. CP 42. The young men are well trained to follow orders exactly without questions or hesitations. CP 42. This training typically saves their lives and is second nature to them. CP 42. He ordered them to do whatever the police wanted them to do, including giving them a statement. CP 41. Folino did not ever advise the men of their constitutional rights, including Miranda. CP 41. Folino did not do so because he never considered that the men would ever even have the option of not cooperating with local law enforcement. CP 41. Folino averred that the military is obligated to follow command structures and to facilitate and cooperate with law enforcement. CP 40-41.

After the interviews with the police, Folino recommended to these soldiers that they might want to make appointments with JAG. CP 42. Prior to meeting with JAG, there would have been no way for these soldiers to refuse to cooperate with Folino's direct order. CP 42. This is so because he had personally commanded each soldier to give a statement to local law enforcement and answer any questions. CP 42. None of these soldiers had any belief that participation was voluntary because Folino did not present their participation as optional. CP 42. They were ordered to speak to law enforcement that is why they did. CP 42.

Dets. Costello and Fayette of the Olympia Police Department [OPD] interviewed Mr. Sanchez in the Fort Lewis Ranger barracks on March 28, 2009. PTRP 7, 9, 16-17. Costello did not recall how Mr. Sanchez was dressed at that time. PTRP 17. Although Mr. Sanchez was not in custody, Costello "probably" identified himself as a police officer, exchanged pleasantries, and before anything substantive was done, advised Mr. Sanchez of his Miranda² rights. PTRP 17.

Costello orally advised Mr. Sanchez of his constitutional rights and obtained his oral waiver thereof. PTRP 17-18. The initial portion of that interview was not taped because of OPD police "to figure out what they [subject of interview] are going to say before we record it." PTRP 19.

During the unrecorded portion of the interview, Costello may well have "said something about Joey being a little guy because he's smaller in frame than the other people involved in this scenario." PTRP 40. Costello believed that Mr. Sanchez had committed the stabbing before he ever talked to him. RP 40.

Although police readvised Mr. Sanchez of his constitutional rights on the recorded statement, they failed to make a complete advisement:

You have the right to remain silent. Anything you say can be used against you in a court of law. You have the right to an attorney of your own choosing, and to have him or her present before or during questioning or making any statements. If you cannot afford an attorney, you are entitled to have one appointed for you by the court without cost to you and to have him or her present or during questioning

² Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436 (1966)

or the making of any statement. You have the right to exercise any of the above rights at any time before or during any questioning or the making of any statements. Do you understand each of these rights that I've explained to you?

PTRP 24.

Mr. Sanchez was free to go after that interview. PTRP 34.Costello next contacted Mr. Sanchez at OPD station on March 31, 2009. PTRP 36, 58 Police intended to arrest him for the stabbing.PTRP 36.

At that time. Mr. Sanchez informed police that he had talked to an attorney and that he had decided not to talk to police. PTRP 36-37. Costello "may have spoken a bit further" to Mr. Sanchez who stated that he wanted to talk to his attorney. PTRP 27.

Mr. Sanchez was given a cell phone and the opportunity to talk to speak privately to his attorney. RPTP 37. Mr. Sanchez's attorney then spoke briefly to police, who arrested Mr. Sanchez. PTRP 37.

United States Army Sgt. Folino who was responsible for arranging Mr. Sanchez's meeting with OPD detectives on March 31, 2009, did not consider that meeting to be voluntary. PTRP 79.

Mr. Sanchez testified at the CrR 3.5 hearing. PTRP 84. He explained that in the early morning hours of March 28, 2009, he was ordered to the barracks, instructed to dress in his uniform, and

cooperate with police. PTRP 85. Mr. Sanchez was on duty at that time and the orders came from his superior, a staff sergeant. PTRP 84-85. In compliance with orders, Mr. Sanchez spoke to police. PTRP 86.

Although Mr. Sanchez acknowledged that OPD detectives read his constitutional rights and that he understood them, he believed that he already had been ordered to make a statement by his superior officer and that he had no choice in the matter. PTRP 89.

Prior to the second encounter with OPD on March 31, 2009, Mr. Sanchez spoke to an Army lawyer. PTRP 91. That officer instructed Mr. Sanchez to invoke his constitutional rights and explained them to him. PTRP 92.

During argument on the admissibility of the statements, trial counsel argued that Mr. Sanchez was under military orders to provide the first statements wherein he admitted being at the bar, drinking underage, and also kicking in the door. PTRP 96-97. Mr. Sanchez, an E3, had been ordered to do so by his sergeant, an E8. PTRP 96.

Midway during this argument, the State announced that it had filed an amended information that it had not served on Mr. Sanchez. PTRP 97. The court granted the State's motion to file the amended information. PTRP 99; 8-9. The court heard argument regarding the admission of the recorded statement made in the barracks. PTRP 99. The court concluded that Mr. Sanchez was not in custody when the statement was made, that police advised Mr. Sanchez of his constitutional rights, that Mr. Sanchez understood his constitutional rights and gave a statement to Det. Costello. RP 99. The court concluded that this noncustodial statement would be admitted at trial. PTRP 99.

The court also found that Mr. Sanchez's statement to police was not incriminating. PTRP 97. The State agreed, "I agree it's not an inculpatory statement. It's an exculpatory statement, and the defendant's trying to minimize his involvement and is denying any involvement in the stabbing which was the subject matter of the investigation. It's relevant because as it turns out some of the statements in the taped statement were untrue. But there's nothing in that statement that's an admission." PTRP 98.

The court failed to enter findings of fact and conclusions of law as required by CrR 3.5. *Passim*.

Mr. Sanchez objected to the State's use of a knife that it had purchased after the incident to use as demonstrative evidence of the knife actually used. PTRP 101. The State intended to use the knife as substantive evidence, claiming that is was exactly the same as the knife used in the stabbing. PTRP 101-102. The court initially granted Mr. Sanchez's motion. PTRP 102.

In a motion in limine, Mr. Sanchez asked the court to require the State to show photos from the bar's security system in real time. PTRP 112-113. That system took 30 frames per second but stored only 15 frames per second. PTRP 113. Playing the security video without *e* counting for the nano-second broken frames would be deceptive and unfairly prejudicial to Mr. Sanchez. PTRP 113. The court deferred ruling on this until it saw the video. PTRP 113. The court stated that any video would have to be shown at real time. PTRP 113-114.

Trial counsel wanted to admit discovery received from the State which contained text messages from unavailable witnesses who had fled the State. PTRP 118. These messages stated, "Hey, I broke this blank guy's jaw", over and over and over again; "There comes a time in every young man's life when he's accused of a stabbing." PTRP 118. This declarant had been in the military at the time these statements were made but subsequently was discharged and fled the State. PTRP 118. Based on the discovery provided by the State, trial counsel determined that the declarant, "Thomas", likely had started the entire event. Trial counsel could not locate him and asked the

court to admit the documents under ER 904³ as authentic. PTRP 118.

Because ER 904 applies only to civil cases and for other

reasons as well, the court deferred ruling on this issue, PTRP 119.

Trial counsel also moved to suppress the second photomontage shown to the alleged victim because it was procedurally flawed and therefore too suggestive. PTRP 120, 121. RP 6. Det. Fayette testified

that she showed two photomontages to the alleged victim, Mr. Merten.

³ RULE ER 904

ADMISSIBILITY OF DOCUMENTS

⁽a) Certain Documents Admissible. In a civil case, any of the following documents proposed as exhibits in accordance with section (b) of this rule shall be deemed admissible unless objection is made under section (c) of this rule:(1) A bill, report made for the purpose of treatment, chart, record of a hospital, doctor, dentist, registered nurse, licensed practical nurse, physical therapist, psychologist or other health care provider, on a letterhead or billhead; (2) A bill for drugs, medical appliances or other related expenses on a letterhead or billhead; (3) A bill for, or an estimate of, property damage on a letterhead or billhead. In the case of an estimate, the party intending to offer the estimate shall forward a copy to the adverse party with a statement indicating whether or not the property was repaired, and if it was, whether the estimated repairs were made in full or in part and attach a copy of the receipted bill showing the items of repair and amounts paid; (4) A weather or traffic signal report, or standard United States government table; (5) A photograph, x-ray, drawing, map, blueprint or similar documentary evidence; (6) A document not specifically covered by any of the foregoing provisions but relating to a material fact and having equivalent circumstantial guaranties of trustworthiness, the admission of which would serve the interests of justice. (b) Notice. Any party intending to offer a document under this rule must serve on all parties a notice, no less than 30 days before trial, stating that the documents are being offered under Evidence Rule 904 and shall be deemed authentic and admissible without testimony or further identification, unless objection is served within 14 days of the date of notice, pursuant to ER 904(c). The notice shall be accompanied by (1) numbered copies of the documents and (2) an index, which shall be organized by document number and which shall contain a brief description of the document along with the name, address and telephone number of the document's author or maker. The notice shall be filed with the court. Copies of documents that accompany the notice shall not be filed with the court. (c) Objection to Authenticity or Admissibility. Within 14 days of notice, any other party may serve on all parties a written objection to any document offered under section (b), identifying each document to which objection is made by number and brief description. (1) If an objection is made to a document on the basis of authentication, and if the court finds that the objection was made without reasonable basis, the offering party shall be entitled to an award of expenses and reasonable attorney fees incurred as a result of the required proof of authentication as to each such document determined to be authentic and offered as an exhibit at the time of trial. (2) If an objection is made to a document on the basis of admissibility, the grounds for the objection shall be specifically set forth, except objection on the grounds of relevancy need not be made until trial. If the court finds that the objection was made without reasonable basis and the document is admitted as an exhibit at trial, the court may award the offering party any expenses incurred and reasonable attorney fees. (d) Effect of Rule. This rule does not restrict argument or proof relating to the weight to be accorded the evidence submitted, nor does it restrict the trier of fact's authority to determine the weight of the evidence after hearing all of the evidence and the arguments of opposing parties.

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