#### No. 42964-1-II

### IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

## **DIVISION TWO**

#### STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

#### ALFRED JOSEPH SANCHEZ,

Appellant.

# ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR THURSTON COUNTY

The Honorable Christine Pomeroy, Judge Cause No. 09-1-00591-9

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Jon Tunheim Prosecuting Attorney Attorney for Respondent

2000 Lakeridge Drive S.W. Olympia, Washington 98502 (360) 786-5540

#

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

### **III. ARGUMENT**

### A. THE COURT PROPERLY ADMITTED THE STATEMENTS OF THE DEFENDANT BECAUSE THE STATEMENTS WERE MADE VOLUNTARILY.

Appellant first challenges the admission of the defendant's statements to police. Those statements were properly admitted because the state proved the statements were made voluntarily.

i. <u>Altough the court did not enter findings of fact and conclusions of law in its decision to admit the defendant's statements, this court can review the issue because the pertinent facts were undisputed and the dispute was based primarily on an issue of law.</u>

Generally, CrR 3.5 requires that a court enter written findings

including: (1) the undisputed facts; (2) the disputed facts; (3) conclusions as to the disputed facts; and (4) conclusion as to whether the statement is admissible and the reasons therefore. However, Washington appellate courts have long recognized that a trial court's failure to enter such findings is harmless if the record is sufficient to allow for review. *State v. Riley*, 69. Wn. App. 349, 848 P.2d 1288 (1993).

In the present case, the facts were generally not in dispute. The evidence regarding the order to cooperate given to the defendant was presented through an affidavit (over the state's objection) and was not subject to cross-examination, nor did the state produce evidence to the contrary. While the trial court did not resolve the issue of whether the order was actually given, it appears clear from the record that the court determined that even assuming the order was given, it did not render the defendant's choice to waive his *Miranda* rights involuntary. To the contrary, the court specifically, in its oral decision, found that his waiver was voluntary.

This court has the complete record of the testimony that was given at the hearing and, because the basic facts were not in dispute, this court need not resolve issues of fact to resolve the issue presented in this appeal. Therefore, the trial court's failure to enter written findings and conclusions is harmless.

ii. <u>Although the defendant may have been given an order by a</u> military superior to cooperate with law enforcement, the subsequent waiver of his right to remain silent was voluntary after he was twice advised of his *Miranda* rights and waived those rights on both occasions.

A trial court's ruling on the admissibility of evidence is reviewed for abuse of discretion. *State v. Powell*, 126 Wn.2d 244, 258, 893 P.2d 615 (1995). A custodial statement is admissible when the defendant is advised of his rights to counsel and to remain silent before interrogation and knowingly, voluntarily, and intelligently waives those rights. *State v. Aten*, 130 Wn. 2d 640, 663, 927 P.2d 210 (1996). The court looks to the totality of the circumstances under which a statement was made to determine whether it is voluntary. *Id.* at 663-64. A reviewing court will not disturb a trial court's determination of voluntariness if substantial evidence supports the trial court's finding of voluntariness by a preponderance of the evidence. *Id.* at 664.

*Miranda* warnings are not required unless the individual is in police custody. The United States Supreme Court has set forth the test for determining when a person is "in custody." *Berkemer v. McCarthy*, 468 U.S. 420, 104 S.Ct. 3138, 3151, 82 L.Ed. 2d 317 (1984). "[T]he safeguards prescribed by *Miranda* become applicable as soon as a suspect's freedom of action is curtailed to a degree associated with formal arrest." *Berkemer*, 104 S. Ct. at 3151. The Washington Supreme Court follows this same analysis in determining whether a person is "in custody" for purposes of *Miranda*. *State v. Harris*, 106 Wn. 2d 784 Wn. 2d 784, 789-90 (1986).

A defendant may waive his or her right to remain silent provided such waiver is made knowingly, voluntarily and intelligently. *Miranda*, 384 U.S. 436. "A valid waiver may be expressly made by a suspect or implied from the facts of custodial interrogation." *State v. Terrovona*, 105 Wn.2d 632, 646, 716 P.2d 295 (1986). The determination of waiver must be made on the basis of the whole record before the court. *State v. Cashaw*, 4 Wn. App 243, 247, 480 P.2d 528 (1971). In the present case, defense asserts that the defendant waived his Miranda rights only because a superior officer ordered him to "cooperate" with the police in the investigation. An order to cooperate does not make a statement involuntary where the defendant is twice advised of his rights under Miranda and expressly waived those rights both times.

It is important to note that *Miranda* is specifically concerned with the coercive power of intimidation inherent in *police* interrogations. *State* v. Walton, 67 Wn. App. 127, 129-130, 834 P.2d 624 (1992). Miranda, 384 U.S. 436, 473-75, 86 S. Ct. 1602, 16 L. Ed. 2d 694 (1966). "Absent police exploitation of a known mental susceptibility," like that which existed in Brewer v. Williams, 430 U.S. 387, 97 S. Ct. 1232, 51 L. Ed. 2d 424 (1977), or Rhode Island v. Innis, 446 U.S. 291, 100 S. Ct. 1682, 64 L. Ed. 2d 297 (1980), "there can be no violation of Miranda or the Fifth Amendment." United States v. Gordon, 638 F. Supp. 1120, 1145 (W.D. La. 1986). Brewer and Innis both stand for the proposition that while knowing exploitation of a mental condition likely violates the purpose of Miranda, inadvertent and unforeseen psychological pressure, even if exerted by police (let alone when exerted by persons unrelated to the interrogation and investigation), will not. Thus, if some perceived coercion occurred as a result of the actions of military personnel, then it was not a police action and not the type of coercion *Miranda* is intended to address.

Additionally, while Washington courts do not appear to have addressed this issue directly, an Ohio court has. Following the Kent State shootings, in *United States v. Shafer*, 384 F. Supp. 491 (E.D. Oh. 1974), the defendants, Army national guardsmen, argued that their statements to investigators from the Federal Bureau of Investigation were the product of coercion because their superiors ordered them to cooperate in the investigation. *Id.* In *Shafer*, seven of the eight defendants signed "waiver of rights" forms presented by FBI agents before giving written statements, while the eighth admitted to being informed of his rights prior to making a statement. *Id.* at 492. The defendants argued the statements were the illegal products of coercion based on multiple orders by multiple senior officers telling them to "cooperate with all investigatory agencies," and to "make statements if requested." *Id.* 

In declining to suppress the statements, the court cited numerous facts about the interrogation itself that weighed against a finding of coercion. *Id.* The court noted the effect of the misrepresentations by senior officers did not constitute "the 'compelling pressures' which concerned the Supreme Court in *Miranda*" (citation omitted) and, therefore, "the careful giving of the warnings alone was sufficient to protect the

[constitutional] privilege." (Citation omitted). *Id.* at 494, citing *United States v. Knight*, 395 F.2d 971, 975 (2d Cir. 1968).

There are few more sobering experiences than being asked to read and execute a waiver of one's constitutional rights prior to questioning by agents of the Federal Bureau of Investigation. To argue that the defendants gave so much weight to the oral remarks of the agents so as to overcome the plain and unmistakable meaning of the waiver requires convoluted reasoning.

*Id.* at 494-95. The same appears true here. Assuming for argument that such an order was actually given, to argue the soldiers may have given so much weight to the order prior to speaking with local law enforcement, so as to overcome the plain language of the *Miranda* warnings "requires convoluted reasoning."

Likewise, "the coercive force found in a military order should not be sufficient to warrant suppression of the statements" because "[c]ertainly such a limitation on the freedom of one in the Army and subject to military discipline is not enough to make a confession *voluntarily given after fair warning* invalid as evidence against him." *Id.* (emphasis added), citing *United State v. Bayer*, 331 U.S. 532, 541, 91 L. Ed. 1654, 67 S. Ct. 1394 (1947).

Again, the same is true here. If in fact an order was given, it does not outweigh the fact that the defendant gave a statement after receiving plainly understandable *Miranda* warnings on two separate occasions.

Arguably, it would be a dangerous position for the court to find that mere statements by a military superior, as well as the utter lack of any coercive actions by investigators, overrides the plain language of the *Miranda* warnings. Such a stance is simply not the intent of either *Miranda* or the Fifth Amendment.

Finally, the *Shafer* court says that even assuming the existence of such orders, suppression would still not be required. "Distilling defendants' coercion argument to its essential elements, all that is left is an order to cooperate with various investigations coupled with an order to make a statement if requested. Construed most stringently, these orders constitute nothing more than 'custodial interrogation.'" *Id.*; *see United States v. Tempia*, 16 U.S.C.M.A. 629, 37 C.M.R. 249 (1967); *United States v. Fisher*, 21 U.S.M.C.A. 223, 44 C.M.R. 277 (1972). "For a statement made in such circumstances to be admissible it need only be cloaked in 'procedural safeguards effective to secure the privilege against self-incrimination." *Miranda*, 384 U.S. at 444.

The *Shafer* court concluded by holding the *Miranda* warnings given fully satisfied that requirement. *Id.*; *see United States v. Steward*, 31 M.J. 259 (C.M.A. 1990)(pre-advisement statement to Air Force officer that he should cooperate in drug investigation or risk losing his wings forever and statement that the results of the interview would be reported

did not render admission involuntary);1 see also Wyrick v. Fields, 459 U.S. 42, 42, 103 S. Ct. 394, 74 L. Ed. 2d 214 (1982) (questions put to a defendant after a polygraph "would not have caused him to forget the rights of which he had been advised and which he understood moments before"); State v. Rupe, 101 Wn.2d 664, 683 P.2d 571 (1984) (defendant made a voluntary waiver of his rights where the court found he was generally aware of his legal rights prior to orally waiving them); United States v. Larry D. Oakley, Jr., 33 M.J. 27, 32 (U.S.C.M.A. 1991)(court held a staff sergeant's advice to the defendant to cooperate with civilian police officers did not overcome accused's will in violation of Article 31, rather the defendant's cooperation was a result of his freely drawn conclusion it was in his best interest to cooperate); United States v. Goudy, 32 M.J. 88, 90 (U.S.C.M.A. 1991) (consent to search was voluntary despite defendant's testimony he took his company commander's request for consent as an implied order and was orally admonished by an investigator he did not have to give consent); United States. V. Jones, 6 M.J. 770, 775 (C.M.R. 1978)(holding that the fact that a person is easily led or of low mentality does not per se render any confession made by him admissible).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Although our courts are not bound by opinions of the Unites States Court of Military Appeals, it is worth noting that Article 31of the UCMJ contains the same rights as *Miranda*.

In the present case, the evidence was undisputed that the defendant was not under arrest. The interviews were conducted in a setting that was not inherently coercive and no superior officers were present. If such an order was given, the defendant was clearly advised that he had the right to remain silent and that his exercise of that right could not be used against him in any way. He asked no questions to seek clarification and never advised the detectives that he had been ordered to cooperate. All of the soldiers involved in the incident were interviewed in this way so the defendant was in no way singled out in the way he was treated or how his interview was conducted. Finally, later in the investigation, the defendant did assert his right to remain silent indicating that he did understand his right and was not in any way inhibited from exercising that right on his own behalf. Therefore, the trial court did not error in finding that the defendant's waiver of his right to remain silent was voluntary and that the statements were admissible.

iii. Even if the defendant's self serving statements were improperly admitted, because the defendant denied any involvement in the crime the admission of his statement was harmless in light of the overwhelming evidence of guilt.

It is important in this case to emphasize that the defendant denied any involvement in the crime in his statements to police and attempted to explain his whereabouts during the events surrounding the crime. Under these circumstances, it is clear that the court would have found the defendant guilty beyond a reasonable doubt even if the statement had not been admitted.

A trial court error in a criminal case may be deemed harmless if the reviewing court concludes beyond a reasonable doubt that the error would not have affected the outcome. *State v. Banks*, 149 Wn.2d 38, 65 P.3d 1198 (2003). In the present case, it is clear from a review of the trial courts findings of facts and conclusions of law following the bench trial that it did not rely on the statements of the defendant in determining the defendant's guilt. The defendant's statements are not mentioned in the findings. In addition, the court did not need to resolve any of the disputed facts in the defendant's statements in order to make its final ruling. Under these circumstances, it appears clear beyond a reasonable doubt that even if the defendant's statements were not admitted at trial, the court would have found him guilty.

B. THE COURT PROPERLY ACCEPTED THE DEFENDANT'S WAIVER OF JURY TRIAL WHEN THE WAIVER WAS PRESENTED IN WRITING AND THE COURT DETERMINED THAT IT WAS KNOWINGLY, INTELLIGENTLY, AND VOLUNTARILY MADE.

Appellant next claims that the trial court erred in accepting a waiver of jury trial and granting their motion to proceed with a trial to the

bench. RCW 10.01.060 provides that criminal cases are to be tried to a

jury unless the defendant waives that right. It provides:

No person informed against or indicted for a crime shall be convicted thereof, unless by admitting the truth of the charge in his or her plea, by confession in open court, or by the verdict of a jury, accepted and recorded by the court: PROVIDED HOWEVER, That except in capital cases, where the person informed against or indicted for a crime is represented by counsel, such person may, with the assent of the court, waive trial by jury and submit to trial by the court.

Washington court rules also permit a defendant to waive a jury

trial. CrR 6.1 provides:

Cases required to be tried by jury shall be so tried unless the defendant files a written waiver of a jury trial, and has consent of the court.

The Washington Supreme Court has long upheld the constitutionality of the RCW 10.01.060 thus allowing defendants the ability to waive a jury trial and request a bench trial in any case except a capital case. *State v. Forza*,70 Wn.2d 69, 422 P.2d 475 (1966). Since the defendant is waiving a right protected by the constitution in Article I section 21, the waiver is subject to the same test as the waiver of other constitutional rights. That is, the state must prove that the waiver is made knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily. *Id. See also, State v. Stegall*, 124

Wn.2d 719, 881 P.2d 979 (1994) (the state bears the burden of proving that a criminal defendant's waiver of a constitutional right is valid).

In the present case, the defendant executed a written waiver and presented it to the court with a request to proceed without a jury. Rather than simply accepting the waiver, the court engaged in a colloquy to ensure that the waiver was knowing, intelligent and voluntary. In response to questions, the defendant told the court that he knew that the judge would decide if the state had proven his guilt and also that a judge would decide the issue of the deadly weapon allegation. The defendant told the court that he had been talking with his attorney about waiving a jury for at least a month and that it was their joint decision to request a bench trial.

Even after finding that the defendant's waiver was valid, however, the court did not automatically grant a bench trial. The court heard the proffered reasons by defense as why they felt that a bench trial was advantageous and considered those during a recess. Only after deliberating on the issue, did the court decide to grant the motion. Under these circumstances it is clear that the defendant's waiver was valid and that the court did not err in granting the motion for the bench trial.

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